IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

UNEMPLOYMENT APPEALS COMMISSION

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 68,145

ZACHARY S. COMER,

 ${\tt Respondent.}$

UNEMPLOYMENT APPEALS COMMISSION,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 68,442

PIERRE J. RENELUS,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

<u>of</u>

RESPONDENT

Zachary S. Comer, Pro Se 5920 Southwest 44 Terrace Miami, Florida 33155

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

T. 9.

Comer Case

The statement of facts of the Commission is accurate and adopted.

ISSUE I

THERE IS COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD AND A REASONABLE BASIS IN THE LAW TO SUPPORT THE CONCLUSION THAT THE FINDINGS OF THE APPEALS REFEREE, ADOPTED BY THE UNEMPLOYMENT APPEALS COMMISSION IS NOT WITHIN THE CONSTITUTIONAL CONSTRAINTS OF THE FLORIDA STATE CONSTITUTION, ARTICLE 9; THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AMENDMENT 14, SECTION I, AND SECTION 443.151 (6)(c) OF THE FLORIDA STATUTES.

ISSUE II

RECOVERY OR RECOUPMENT OF THE OVERPAYMENT WOULD DEFEAT THE LEGISLATIVE PURPOSE OF THE UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION LAW AND BE INCONSISTENT WITH THE LEGISLATIVE MANDATE OF WAIVER OF RECOUPMENT ON THE BASIS OF EQUITY AND GOOD CONSCIENCE.

ISSUE I.

THERE IS COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE
IN THE RECORD AND A REASONABLE BASIS IN THE
LAW TO SUPPORT THE CONCLUSION THAT THE
FINDINGS OF THE APPEALS REFEFEE, ADOPTED
BY THE UNEMPLOYMENT APPEALS COMMISSION IS
NOT WITHIN THE CONSTITUTIONAL CONSTRAINTS
OF THE FLORIDA STATE CONSTITUTION, ARTICLE 9;
THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AMENDMENT 14,
SECTION I, AND SECTION 443.151 (6)(c) OF
THE FLORIDA STATUTES.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

Comer Case

The statement of facts of the Commission is accurate and adopted.

Summary Of Argument

State action on unemployment compensation overpayments which occur when not as a consequence of fraud, are addressed by Florida Statutes as follows:

443.151(6)(b)

. .

If any person, other than by reason of his FRAUD, has received any sum as benefits under this chapter to which, under redetermination or decision pursuant to this section, he has been found not entitled, he shallbe liable to repay such sum to the division for and on behalf of the trust fund or, in the <u>discretion</u> of the division, shall have such sum deducted from any future benefits payable to him under this chapter.

No such recovery or recoupment of such sum may be effected after two years from the date of such redetermination or decision.

443.151(6)(c)

No recoupment from future benefits shall be had if such sum was received by such person without fault on his part and such recoupment would defeat the purpose of this chapter or would be against equity and good conscience. The just quoted statutory provisions allegedly makes unemployment compensation claimants liable for restitution of overpayments without exception, except if recoupment would defeat the purpose of this chapter or would be against equity and good conscience.

Citing Garcia v. Department of Labor and Employment Security, State of Florida, Unemployment Appeals Commission, 426 So.2d 1171 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) and Sagaert v. State Deparatment of Labor and Employment Security, Unemployment Appeals Commission, 418 So. 2d 1228 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982).

Respondent argues that the waiver considerations contained in F.S. 443.151(6)(c) are controlling <u>against</u> recoupment and recovery until the Commission has allowed Respondent the opportunity to present evidence in support of consideration of waiver of overpayment based upon consideration of equity and good conscience.

Additionally, due to the statutory language of F.S. 443.151 (6)(c), there can be no constitutionally lawful decision by any appeals referee which ignores waivers of recoupment as a matter of law as evidenced by the decisions in this case.

In Sagaert, supra, the Court held:

We can discern no logical reason for granting the section 443.151(6)(c), supra, defenses of statutory purpose and equity and good conscience to someone who will still be receiving benefits, while with-holding these defenses from someone whose benefits are terminated and who is required to repay sums to the division. A statute will not be interpreted to achieve an illogical or absurd result. McKibben v. Mallory, 293 So.2d 48 (Fla. 1974); Good Samaritan Hospital Association v. Simon, 370 So.2d 1174 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979), 418 So.2d 1230. (Footnote Omitted).

ISSUE II

Salar Salar

RECOVERY OR RECOUPMENT OF THE OVERPAYMENT WOULD DEFEAT THE LEGISLATIVE PURPOSE OF THE UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION LAW AND BE INCONSISTENT WITH THE LEGISLATIVE MANDATE OF WAIVER OF RECOUPMENT ON THE BASIS OF EQUITY AND GOOD CONSCIENCE.

Within the confines of the Florida Unemployment Statutes, there is not to be found a specific definition of equity and good conscience.

Additionally, it is apparent that the counsel for the Commission has likewise been unsuccessful at finding any "on point" provisions of Federal law relative to equity and good conscience waiver in unemployment compensation.

On appeal, the Commission argues in effect that there are no circumstances where anyone is entitled to a waiver of the overpayment in the interest of equity and good conscience. Such a position is not consistent with the statutory provisions of Florida law, to the contrary.

No evidence was considered in this case by the referee or the Commission, on the matter of waiver of the overpayment, thereby denying the record evidence and the Respondent due process rights afforded by the Constitutions of Florida and the United States. Florida State Constitution, Article 9, USC Amendment 14.

This act of the Petitioner is a prima facie showing of the fundamental denial of procedural and substantive due process to all who seek waiver of overpayment under equity and good conscience statutory provisions.

Apparent from the record, the Commission has abused their discretion under Florida law by not permitting any consideration of waiver of overpayment on the pretext that it was not allowed as a matter of law.

Fortunately for all parties, the issues raised by this case have already been adequately addressed under essentially identical circumstances by the Supreme Court of the <u>State of California</u>.

In <u>Gilles v. Department of Human Resources Development</u>, 90 ALR 3d (1974), the Court stated:

/4/

...We note, however, that the federally administered social security and unemployment compensation programs permit recoupment, by means of setoff or civil action, only when such recoupment will not defeat the statutory purpose nor contravene equity and good conscience, and that federal cases and regulations interpret such language to require consideration of the individual circumstances of each claimant. (See supra at pp 324-325, 11 Cal. 3d 313).

NOTE:

A COPY OF THE ALR CASE HAS BEEN ATTACHED FOR THE COURT'S REVIEW.

CLOSING ARGUMENT

At least seven jurist, distinguished members of the Florida Bar have reviewed 443.151(6)(b) and (c), and have not agreed upon the interpretation of the application of this Florida law to this situation. How then does the Commission expect an unemployed worker to be placed on notice that they are at risk of financial devastation to use unemployment benefits, if they are later deemed not entitled to benefits. There is precedent for this type of notice which is fundamental to due proces.

The LORD GOD took man and put him in the Garden of Eden to till it and and keep it. And the LORD GOD commanded the man, saying: "you may freely eat of every tree of the garden, but of the tree of the knowledge of good and evil you shall not eat.

For in the day that you eat of it, you shall die. (Genesis 2:15-17).

Clearly, man was not originally confused by God's law which made the unacceptable known and the consequences known in simple terms which no one could disagree.

Apparent in this case at bar is total disagreement between learned men of considerable expertise in reading and applying the laws of the State of Florida.

A conclusion can be drawn that the law is overly vague and ambiguous, and ergo, unconstitutional.

Another conclusion can be reached that the Commission can chose to <u>ignore</u> in total the Federal policy on waiver of overpayment on this Federal unemployment claim! To accept this position, would also require disregarding the Florida Statute provisions as well, which denies citizens of Florida a

legislative right, guaranteed by statutes. Such action by the Commission would be based upon judicial encroachment into exclusive legislative prerogatives. This position has been rejected by both the 3rd amd 4th District Courts of Appeal.

WHEREFORE, the only logical, legally equitable and statutorily consistent position which would sataisfy the nucleus of operative facts evidenced in this case would be a decision which, as in <u>Gilles</u>, allows the decision on waiver of overpayment to be considered on a case-by-case basis.

Respectfully submitted,

Zachon lamer Zachary B. Comer, Pro Se

ZC/zc