IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

UNEMPLOYMENT APPEALS COMMISSION,  
Petitioner,

vs.

ZACHARY S. COMER,  
Respondent.

-----  
UNEMPLOYMENT APPEALS COMMISSION,  
Petitioner,

vs.

PIERRE J. RENELUS,  
Respondent.

CASE NO.: 68,145

**FILED**  
SID J. WHITE

MAY 8 1986

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

CASE NO.: 68,442

Chief Deputy Clerk

PETITION FOR CERTIORARI  
FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT  
COURT OF APPEAL

-----  
RESPONDENT PIERRE J. RENELUS'  
ANSWER BRIEF  
-----

John R. Greenwood, Esq.  
Abbe Cohn, Esq.  
Haitian American Community  
Association of Dade County,  
(HACAD), Inc.  
5901 NW 2nd Avenue  
Miami, Fl. 33127  
(305) 751-3429  
Attorneys for  
Respondent Renelus

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

To deny Respondent the opportunity to seek a waiver of the Division's demand that he repay a non-fraudulent overpayment would be illogical and absurd, and would pave the way for administrative abuse.

Moreover, the interpretation of the statute urged by Petitioner would thwart the purpose of the statutory scheme that benefits be paid when due and be freely available to meet necessary expenditures. Any blanket requirement that an overpayment be repaid without taking into account individual circumstances would inhibit the unemployed worker in his use of the benefits for immediate expenses.

Interpreting an ambiguous statute so as to give expression to the legislative purpose and public policy, while avoiding an unreasonable, illogical, absurd, and unconstitutional result is a proper role for the court and does not violate the doctrine of separation of powers.

An interpretation of Section 443.151(6)(c), Fla. Stat. (1985), which would separate those persons who had received overpayments of unemployment benefits into two classes, one who could raise defenses to an attempt by the Division to recover the overpayment, and another class denied the right to raise defenses, without a rational basis for such discrimination, would deny the latter class the equal protection of the laws and would be constitutionally impermissible.

## ARGUMENT

### I. PETITIONER MISCONSTRUES THE PROPER ROLE OF THE COURT IN STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION.

Sagaert v. State Dept. of Labor, 418 So. 2d 1228 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), held that Section 443.151 (6)(c) Fla. Stat. "must be read to apply to recovery by repayment as well as recoupment from future benefits". Sagaert, at 1230. The Court stated,

We can discern no logical reason for granting the Section 443.151 (6)(c), supra, defenses of statutory purpose and equity and good conscience to someone who will still be receiving benefits, while withholding these defenses from someone whose benefits are terminated and who is required to repay a sum to the Division. A statute will not be interpreted to achieve an illogical or absurd result, McKibben v. Mallory, 293 So. 2d 48 (Fla. 1974); Good Samaritan Hospital Ass'n v. Simon, 370 So. 2d 1174 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979).

Additionally, Section 443.151(6)(b), supra, gives the Division the discretion to select either recoupment or repayment when it seeks to undo an overpayment error. If the defenses in Section 443.151(6)(c), supra, were meant to apply only to recoupment and not to repayment, then in every case where future benefits were still to be paid, the Division could avoid the application of these defenses merely by exercising its discretion in favor of seeking repayment. To follow such an interpretation would pave the way for administrative abuse, a road we refuse to follow. Getzen v. Sumter County, 89 Fla. 45, 103 So. 104 (1925).

The Court held in Sagaert that the Commission is required in every case to make the determination that recovery of an overpayment whether by repayment or recoupment would not be against equity and good conscience or defeat the purpose of the Unemployment Compensation Law.

The Sagaert holding was reaffirmed in Garcia v. Dept. of Labor and Employment Security, 426 So. 2d 1171 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983). Comer v. State, Unemployment Appeals Commission, 481 So. 2d 67 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985); Renelus v. Florida Unemployment Appeals Commission, Case No.: 85-1556 (Fla. 3d DCA, March 4, 1986).

In a directly conflicting decision Florida's Fourth District Court of Appeal held that the defenses of statutory purpose, equity, and good conscience



cannot be raised when the state demands repayment of an overpayment of unemployment benefits. Sheppard v. State, Department of Labor, 442 So. 2d 1114 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). The court labelled the decisions in Sagaert and Garcia as "...inappropriate invasion (s) by the judiciary into the legislative arena ..." Sheppard, at 1116.

Sagaert and its progeny are not judicial encroachments into the legislative arena which offend the constitutional doctrine of separation of powers but are well-reasoned opinions based on the fundamental maxims of statutory construction.

Section 443.151 (6), Fla. Stat. (1985), is a poorly crafted and ambiguous piece of legislation. The words "recoupment" and "repayment" are not defined. Nor are they terms of art. They are used interchangeably together with "recover", "deduct" and "civil action" to denote the various methods by which the Division might seek to make the fund whole for an overpayment. The meaning of Section 443.151(6)(c) must, therefore, be ascertained primarily by determining the legislative purpose. Tyson v. Lanier, 156 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1963).

The legislative purpose of Section 443.151(6)(c), Fla. Stat. (1985) must be determined by consideration of the entire Unemployment Compensation Law rather than from any single part thereof. Florida Jai Alai, Inc. v. Lake Howell Water and Reclamation Dist., 274 So. 2d 522 (Fla. 1973); Wilensky v. Fields, 267 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1972).

While it is a well-settled, as Petitioner contends, that courts are not concerned with the wisdom of a statute, or its social justice, the courts must construe a statute so as to give effect to the legislative purpose and this must prevail over a literal reading of the words used. Radio Tel. Communications, Inc. v. Southeastern Tel. Co., 170 So. 2d 577 (Fla. 1964). Johnson v. Presbyterian Homes of Synod of Florida, Inc., 239 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 1970). Section 443.151 (6)(c), Fla. Stat. (1985), must be interpreted so as to give expression to the policy and

spirit of the Unemployment Compensation Law. Section 443.021, Fla. Stat. (1985); Florida Industrial Commission v. Ciarlante, 84 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1955); Glessner v. Duval County, 203 So. 2d 330 (Fla. 1st DCA 1967).

The Unemployment compensation statute is remedial, humanitarian legislation. It is to be liberally construed to accomplish its purpose, Section 443.051, Florida Statutes (1985), and should be construed in favor of the claimant for whose benefit it exists. Baeza v. Pan American/National Airlines, 392 So. 2d 920 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980); Williams v. State, Dept. of Commerce, 260 So. 2d 233 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972); Spaulding v. Florida Industrial Commission, 154 So. 2d 334 (Fla. 3d DCA 1963). Doubts, where they exist, should be resolved in favor of the claimant. Baeza, Supra; Williams v. Florida Dept. of Commerce, 326 So. 2d 237 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976). Disqualifying provisions are to be narrowly construed. Baeza, Supra; St. St. Joe Paper Co. v. Gautreaux, 180 So. 2d 668 (Fla. 1st DCA 1965). The unemployment Compensation program was established to benefit the unemployed worker. That is the reason courts have felt compelled to construe the statute liberally in his favor. Baeza, supra; Spaulding, supra.

That interpretation of Section 443.151 (6)(c), Fla. Stat. (1985), which gives effect to the purpose of the unemployment compensation laws, and avoids an illogical, absurd, and unreasonable result must prevail over the literal interpretation urged by Petitioner.

Moreover, the interpretation urged by Petitioner would render the statute unconstitutional as violative of the equal protection clauses of the Florida and United States' constitutions. (See Section III).

A statute should be construed, not only to avoid a conclusion that it is unconstitutional, but also to avoid grave doubts on that score. Dunedin v. Bense, 90 So. 2d 300 (Fla. 1956); State v. Aiuppa, 298 So. 2d 391 (Fla. 1974); State v. Reilly Enterprises, Inc., 298 So. 2d 405 (Fla. 1974).

II. TO BE RECONCILED WITH THE PURPOSE OF THE UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION PROGRAM, SECTION 443.151 (6)(c), FLA. STAT. (1985), MUST BE READ TO APPLY TO RECOVERY BY REPAYMENT AS WELL AS RECOUPMENT FROM FUTURE BENEFITS.

In construing a statute, courts are required to look to the history, objective and purpose of the legislation. Sunshine State News Company v. State, 121 So. 2d 705, 708 (Fla. 3d DCA 1960); California Dept. of Human Resources v. Java, 402 U.S. 121, 130-34 (1971).

The Florida legislature has stated that the objective of the Unemployment Compensation Law is to provide benefits during periods of unemployment in order to maintain purchasing power and limit the serious social consequences of unemployment. Section 443.021, Fla. Stat. (1985); Ciarlante, supra. The United States Supreme Court has stated of the federal unemployment scheme that: "The purpose of the Act was to give prompt if only partial replacement of wages to the unemployed to enable workers to 'tide themselves over, until they get back to their old work or find other employment, without having to resort to relief'". Java, supra, 402 U.S. at 131, quoting H.R. Rep. No. 615, 74th Cong. 1st Sess., 7 (1935). The benefits provide money to the unemployed at a time when otherwise he would have no income; assists him to find other employment; and by maintaining purchasing power, stabilizes industries producing goods and services. Java, at 131-32.

This objective requires that the payments be promptly paid when due, Java, supra, and that they be freely available to meet current expenses. Gilles v. Department of Human Resources Development, 521 P. 2d 110 (Cal. 1974). The serious consequences of unemployment will not be limited, nor purchasing power maintained, if the unemployed worker is inhibited from using his benefits by the awareness that he may be required to repay them if he costs his claim on appeal. Gilles at 118.

Gilles, involved a challenge to a ruling of the California Appeals Board which had held that recoupment of overpayments would never violate equity and good conscience if the claimant received prior notice that benefits might have to be repaid. The court held that such an interpretation of the statute could not be reconciled with the purpose of the unemployment compensation program, and that while Congress did not intend to totally prohibit recovery of overpayments it did intend to limit recovery to cases where it would not defeat the statutory purpose nor contravene equity and good conscience. Gilles, supra, at 120.

While Gilles involved recovery of an overpayment by recoupment, the same argument can be advanced regarding recovery by repayment. If an unemployed worker feels obligated to retain the funds in order to make repayment if the award were reversed, then the purpose of the statute would be thwarted.

Prior to California's enactment of a statute providing for recoupment that state's Court of Appeal held that recoupment would defeat the objectives of unemployment compensation. "If the beneficiary of unemployment insurance payments be required to restore such payments to the state fund in the event of a later adverse decision by the courts, would not the very essence of the act which is its provision for the prompt payment of benefits for the immediate relief of those unemployed, at the time of their unemployment, be destroyed?" Western, etc., Lbr. Co. v. Cal. Emp. Com., 137 P. 2d 76, 79 (Cal. 1943).

In Losey v. Roberts, 570 F. Supp. 1465 (N.D.N.Y. 1983) an unemployed worker challenged New York's attempt to recover an overpayment when the state did not take into consideration whether the recovery would contravene the goals of the unemployment insurance program. The court found that New York's blanket imposition of a set-off thwarted the purposes of the statu-

tory scheme - supra, at 1468.

The interpretation of Section 443.151 (6)(c), Fla. Stat. (1985), urged by Petitioner allows the state to demand, without taking account of individual circumstances, that all overpayments be repaid. Such a blanket determination has a chilling effect on the unemployed workers ability to utilise unemployment compensation funds for the purpose for which they were intended. The objective of the statutory scheme is thwarted in exactly the same manner as the programs found wanting in Gilles, Western, and Losey.

The statute must be interpreted such that the unemployed worker upon receipt of his benefits will know that should his claim be reversed on appeal, he will be able to raise the defenses of against equity, good conscience, and statutory purpose to any demand from the state that he repay the overpayment.

III. THE INTERPRETATION OF THE STATUTE URGED BY PETITIONER WOULD RENDER IT UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS VIOLATIVE OF THE EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE OF THE FLORIDA AND UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONS.

An interpretation of Section 443.151 (6)(c), Fla. Stat., which would separate those persons who had received overpayments of unemployment benefits into two classes, one who could raise defenses to an attempt by the state to recover the overpayment, and one class who could raise no defenses to the state's attempt to recover the overpayment, would deny the latter class the equal protection of the laws and would be constitutionally impermissible.

This court has held on numerous occasions that to be constitutionally permissible a classification must apply equally and uniformly to all within the class and must bear some rational relationship to a legitimate state purpose. Florida High School Activities Association, Inc., v. Thomas, 434 So. 2d 306 (Fla. 1983); Haber v. State, 396 So. 2d 707 (Fla. 1981); Wiggins v. City of Jacksonville, 311 So. 2d 406 (Fla. 1975).

The statute, as interpreted by Petitioner, discriminates against those from whom the Division demands recovery of an overpayment, and who are not at that time receiving unemployment benefits, by denying them the opportunity to raise the defense that the recovery would be contrary to equity and good conscience and would defeat the purpose of the statute. The Division can advance no rational purpose for such discrimination.

The objective of the Unemployment Compensation Law is to provide benefits during periods of unemployment in order to maintain purchasing power and limit the social consequences of unemployment. Section 443.021, Fla. Stat. (1985). This objective requires that the payments be promptly made when due, Java, supra, and that they be freely available to meet current expenses. Gilles, supra, at 118.

The serious consequences of unemployment will not be limited, nor purchasing power maintained if the unemployed worker is inhibited from using his benefits by the awareness that he may be required to repay them as a result of an employer's appeal. Gilles, supra, at 118; Western, supra.

The purpose of the statute would be defeated equally whether the Division attempts to recover an overpayment from one who is currently receiving benefits, or from one not currently receiving benefits, unless the person's individual circumstances are taken into account.

The type of assets available for attachment by the Division are a relevant factor in determining whether recovery of an overpayment would defeat the purpose of the statute or would be against equity and good conscience. But to allow that defense only to one presently in receipt of benefits bears no reasonable relationship to a legitimate state interest.

Certainly one presently unemployed and receiving benefits, which barely cover necessary expenditures, would be entitled to the benefit of the Section 443.151 (6)(c) defense. But to deny that defense to one unemployed and receiving

no benefits, or to one whose sole assets are a minimum-wage weekly pay check is an irrational discrimination.

Section 443.051 (2), Fla. Stat. (1985), is not a rationale for discrimination, but is consistent with the purpose of the legislation that benefits received be freely available for immediate and necessary expenditures. Similarly, claimants cannot be charged any fees in connection with a claim, with the exception of attorney's fees, which are limited. Section 443.041 (2), Fla. Stat. (1985). A claimant is not required to pay filing fees at any stage of appellate proceedings. Claimants are entitled to free tapes of Appeals Referee hearings.

This concern of the legislature that benefits be available to the unemployed worker at the time they are most needed provides no reasonable basis for a later discrimination as to the manner of recovery of an overpayment. Each claimant must be given the opportunity to raise his individual circumstances as a defense to any attempt by the Division to recover an overpayment, whether by recoupment or repayment. To do less would be an irrational and unconstitutional discrimination.